
EXECUTIVE SERVICES 

TONBRIDGE & MALLING
BOROUGH COUNCIL

Chief Executive
Julie Beilby BSc (Hons) MBA

Gibson Building
Gibson Drive
Kings Hill, West Malling
Kent ME19 4LZ
West Malling (01732) 844522

NB - This agenda contains proposals, 
recommendations and options. These do 
not represent Council policy or decisions 
until they have received proper 
consideration through the full decision 
making process.

Contact: Committee Services
committee.services@tmbc.gov.uk

11 January 2017

To: MEMBERS OF THE AREA 1 PLANNING COMMITTEE
(Copies to all Members of the Council)

Dear Sir/Madam

Your attendance is requested at a meeting of the Area 1 Planning Committee to be held 
in the Riverside Lounge, Angel Centre, Tonbridge on Thursday, 19th January, 2017 
commencing at 7.30 pm. Deposited plans will be available for Members' inspection for 
half an hour before the start of the meeting.

Yours faithfully

JULIE BEILBY

Chief Executive

A G E N D A

PART 1 - PUBLIC

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 

Public Document Pack



3. Minutes 5 - 8

To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of Area 1 Planning 
Committee held on 1 December 2016

Decisions to be taken by the Committee

4. Development Control 9 - 12

Introduction and Glossary

5. TM/15/03345/FL - Raphael Medical Centre, Coldharbour Lane, 
Hildenborough 

13 - 36

6. TM/16/02987/0A - Land adjoining 11 Uridge Crescent, 
Tonbridge 

37 - 46

7. Urgent Items 

Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent due to special 
circumstances and of which notice has been given to the Chief Executive.

Matters for consideration in Private

8. Exclusion of Press and Public 47 - 48

The Chairman to move that the press and public be excluded from the remainder 
of the meeting during consideration of any items the publication of which would 
disclose exempt information.

PART 2 - PRIVATE

9. Urgent Items 

Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent due to special 
circumstances and of which notice has been given to the Chief Executive.



MEMBERSHIP

Cllr R D Lancaster (Chairman)
Cllr V M C Branson (Vice-Chairman)

Cllr Mrs J A Anderson
Cllr O C Baldock
Cllr Mrs P A Bates
Cllr P F Bolt
Cllr J L Botten
Cllr D J Cure
Cllr M O Davis
Cllr T Edmondston-Low
Cllr B T M Elks

Cllr Mrs M F Heslop
Cllr N J Heslop
Cllr M R Rhodes
Cllr H S Rogers
Cllr Miss J L Sergison
Cllr C P Smith
Cllr Ms S V Spence
Cllr F G Tombolis



This page is intentionally left blank



AP 1

TONBRIDGE AND MALLING BOROUGH COUNCIL

AREA 1 PLANNING COMMITTEE

Thursday, 1st December, 2016

Present: Cllr R D Lancaster (Chairman), Cllr V M C Branson (Vice-Chairman), 
Cllr Mrs J A Anderson, Cllr O C Baldock, Cllr P F Bolt, Cllr M O Davis, 
Cllr T Edmondston-Low, Cllr B T M Elks, Cllr M R Rhodes, 
Cllr H S Rogers, Cllr Miss J L Sergison, Cllr C P Smith and 
Cllr Ms S V Spence

Councillors  were also present pursuant to Council Procedure Rule 
No 15.21.

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Mrs P A Bates, 
J L Botten, D J Cure, Mrs M F Heslop, N J Heslop and F G Tombolis

PART 1 - PUBLIC

AP1 16/28   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest in accordance with the Code of 
Conduct.

AP1 16/29   MINUTES 

RESOLVED:  That the Minutes of the meeting of the Area 1 Planning 
Committee held on 27 October 2016 be approved as a correct record 
and signed by the Chairman subject to the inclusion of a note under 
Minute AP1 16/23 in relation to application TM/16/01169/FL (Café 1809, 
152-154 Tonbridge Road, Hildenborough) that Kent Highway Services 
had advised that a ‘Parking Beat’ survey could be undertaken to assess 
the levels of parking stress in the locality, both during a typical non-
private function event and a permitted private function event, and this 
was acknowledged as a useful tool in providing an accurate assessment 
of the levels of public parking availability in the locality during a typical 
evening and during private function events.

DECISIONS TAKEN UNDER DELEGATED POWERS IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH PARAGRAPH 3, PART 3 OF THE 
CONSTITUTION

AP1 16/30   DEVELOPMENT CONTROL 

Decisions were taken on the following applications subject to the pre-
requisites, informatives, conditions or reasons for refusal set out in the 
report of the Director of Planning, Housing and Environmental Health or 
in the variations indicated below.  Any supplementary reports were 
tabled at the meeting. Members of the public addressed the meeting 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



AREA 1 PLANNING COMMITTEE 1 December 2016

2

where the required notice had been given and their comments were 
taken into account by the Committee when determining the application.  
Speakers are listed under the relevant planning application shown 
below.  

AP1 16/31   TM/16/02306/FL - 13 CROMER STREET, TONBRIDGE 

Ground floor extension to existing rear two storey out-building and 
internal refurbishment works to storage, garage and workshop/studio 
spaces at 13 Cromer Street, Tonbridge.

RESOLVED: That planning permission be GRANTED in accordance 
with the submitted details, conditions, reasons and informatives set out 
in the report of the Director of Planning, Housing and Environmental 
Health; subject to

(1) Amendment to Conditions:

3.  The extended outbuilding shall not be used for any other purpose 
than the accommodation of private vehicles or for a purpose incidental to 
the enjoyment of the related dwelling house and no trade or business 
shall be carried on therefrom.

Reason:  To safeguard the amenities and interests of the occupants of 
other property in this residential area.

5.  The use of the extended outbuilding hereby permitted shall be 
occupied and used only in connection with the original dwelling house 
known as 13 Cromer Street, Tonbridge and shall not be used, let or sold 
at any time as a separate unit of living accommodation or used for any 
commercial purpose.

Reason:  To safeguard the character and amenities of the locality. 

[Speaker:  Mr John McCormack – member of the public and Mr Ewan 
Taylor - applicant]

AP1 16/32   TM/16/03008/FL - 49 BRINDLES FIELD, TONBRIDGE 

Proposed two storey side extension with integral garage, canopy porch, 
and internal alterations at 49 Brindles Field, Tonbridge. 

RESOLVED:  That planning permission be REFUSED for the following 
reason:

(1) The proposed two storey side extension, by virtue of its size, bulk 
and proximity to the northern boundary when combined with the 
constrained nature of the plot and limited size of the neighbouring 
gardens, would result in a dominant and overbearing form of 
development which would in turn be harmful to the residential 

Page 6



AREA 1 PLANNING COMMITTEE 1 December 2016

3

amenities of the occupiers of 10 and 12 West Rise, Tonbridge.  The 
proposed development is therefore contrary to Policy CP24 of the 
Tonbridge and Malling Core Strategy 2007, Policy SQ1 of the 
Managing Development and the Environment Development Plan 
Document 2010 and the core principles of the National Planning 
Policy Framework 2012 (paragraphs 17, 58 and 64).

[Speakers:  Mr Paul Rogers and Mr Gary Gammer – members of the 
public]

AP1 16/33   EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

There were no items considered in private.

The meeting ended at 8.45 pm

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



1

TONBRIDGE & MALLING BOROUGH COUNCIL

AREA PLANNING COMMITTEES

Report of the Director of Planning, Housing & Environmental Health

Part I – Public

Section A – For Decision

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL
In accordance with the Local Government Access to Information Act 1985 and the Local 
Government Act 1972 (as amended), copies of background papers, including 
representations in respect of applications to be determined at the meeting, are available 
for inspection at Planning Services, Gibson Building, Gibson Drive, Kings Hill from 08.30 
hrs until 17.00 hrs on the five working days which precede the date of this meeting.

Members are invited to inspect the full text of representations received prior to the 
commencement of the meeting.

Local residents’ consultations and responses are set out in an abbreviated format 
meaning: (number of letters despatched/number raising no objection (X)/raising objection 
(R)/in support (S)).

All applications may be determined by this Committee unless (a) the decision would be in 
fundamental conflict with the plans and strategies which together comprise the 
Development Plan; or (b) in order to comply with Rule 15.24 of the Council and Committee 
Procedure Rules.

GLOSSARY of Abbreviations and Application types 

used in reports to Area Planning Committees as at 23 September 2015

AAP Area of Archaeological Potential
AODN Above Ordnance Datum, Newlyn
AONB Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty
APC1 Area 1 Planning Committee 
APC2 Area 2 Planning Committee 
APC3 Area 3 Planning Committee 
ASC Area of Special Character
BPN Building Preservation Notice
BRE Building Research Establishment
CA Conservation Area
CPRE Council for the Protection of Rural England
DEFRA Department for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



2

DETR Department of the Environment, Transport & the Regions
DCLG Department for Communities and Local Government
DCMS Department for Culture, the Media and Sport 
DLADPD Development Land Allocations Development Plan Document 
DMPO Development Management Procedure Order
DPD Development Plan Document 
DPHEH Director of Planning, Housing & Environmental Health
DSSL Director of Street Scene & Leisure
EA Environment Agency
EH English Heritage
EMCG East Malling Conservation Group
FRA Flood Risk Assessment
GDPO Town & Country Planning (General Development Procedure) 

Order 2015
GPDO Town & Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 

Order 2015
HA Highways Agency
HSE Health and Safety Executive
HMU Highways Management Unit
KCC Kent County Council
KCCVPS Kent County Council Vehicle Parking Standards
KDD Kent Design (KCC)  (a document dealing with housing/road 

design)
KWT Kent Wildlife Trust
LB Listed Building (Grade I, II* or II)
LDF Local Development Framework
LLFA Lead Local Flood Authority
LMIDB Lower Medway Internal Drainage Board
LPA Local Planning Authority
LWS Local Wildlife Site
MAFF Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food
MBC Maidstone Borough Council
MC Medway Council (Medway Towns Unitary Authority)
MCA Mineral Consultation Area
MDEDPD Managing Development and the Environment Development 

Plan Document
MGB Metropolitan Green Belt
MKWC Mid Kent Water Company
MWLP Minerals & Waste Local Plan
NE Natural England
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
PC Parish Council
PD Permitted Development
POS Public Open Space
PPG Planning Policy Guidance 
PROW Public Right Of Way

Page 10



3

SDC Sevenoaks District Council
SEW South East Water
SFRA Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (prepared as background to 

the LDF)
SNCI Site of Nature Conservation Interest
SPAB Society for the Protection of Ancient Buildings
SPD Supplementary Planning Document (a statutory policy 

document supplementary to the LDF)
SPN Form of Statutory Public Notice
SSSI Site of Special Scientific Interest
SWS Southern Water Services
TC Town Council
TCAAP Tonbridge Town Centre Area Action Plan
TCS Tonbridge Civic Society
TMBC Tonbridge & Malling Borough Council
TMBCS Tonbridge & Malling Borough Core Strategy (part of the Local 

Development Framework)
TMBLP Tonbridge & Malling Borough Local Plan
TWBC Tunbridge Wells Borough Council
UCO Town and Country Planning Use Classes Order 1987 (as 

amended)
UMIDB Upper Medway Internal Drainage Board
WLP Waste Local Plan (KCC)

AGPN/AGN Prior Notification: Agriculture
AT Advertisement
CA Conservation Area Consent (determined by Secretary 

of State if made by KCC or TMBC)
CAX Conservation Area Consent:  Extension of Time
CNA Consultation by Neighbouring Authority
CR3 County Regulation 3 (KCC determined)
CR4 County Regulation 4
DEPN Prior Notification: Demolition
DR3 District Regulation 3
DR4 District Regulation 4
EL Electricity
ELB Ecclesiastical Exemption Consultation (Listed Building)
ELEX Overhead Lines (Exemptions)
FC Felling Licence
FL Full Application
FLX Full Application:  Extension of Time
FLEA Full Application with Environmental Assessment
FOPN Prior Notification: Forestry
GOV Consultation on Government Development
HN Hedgerow Removal Notice
HSC Hazardous Substances Consent

Page 11



4

LB Listed Building Consent (determined by Secretary of State if 
made by KCC or TMBC)

LBX Listed Building Consent:  Extension of Time
LCA Land Compensation Act - Certificate of Appropriate 

Alternative Development
LDE Lawful Development Certificate: Existing Use or Development
LDP Lawful Development Certificate: Proposed Use or 

Development
LRD Listed Building Consent Reserved Details
MIN Mineral Planning Application (KCC determined)
NMA Non Material Amendment
OA Outline Application
OAEA Outline Application with Environment Assessment
OAX Outline Application:  Extension of Time
RD Reserved Details
RM Reserved Matters (redefined by Regulation from August 

2006)
TEPN56/TEN Prior Notification: Telecoms
TNCA Notification: Trees in Conservation Areas
TPOC Trees subject to TPO
TRD Tree Consent Reserved Details
TWA Transport & Works Act 1992 (determined by Secretary of 

State)
WAS Waste Disposal Planning Application (KCC determined)
WG Woodland Grant Scheme Application

Page 12



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 19 January 2017

Hildenborough
Hildenborough

12 November 2015 TM/15/03345/FL

Proposal: Demolition of former school buildings (part of which are 
occupied by the Raphael Medical Centre for Class C2 care use 
and part of which are vacant) and redevelopment with a two 
storey building and basement to provide a 28 bedroom 
specialist care facility with landscaping and car parking

Location: Raphael Medical Centre Coldharbour Lane Hildenborough 
Tonbridge Kent TN11 9LE 

Applicant: Raphael Medical Centre
Go to: Recommendation

1. Description:

1.1 Planning permission is sought for the demolition of the former school buildings and 
existing care accommodation which occupies the site and its redevelopment with a 
purpose built two storey building (plus basement) to be constructed around a 
central landscaped courtyard. The proposed new building would comprise a 28 
bedroom specialist care facility, including consulting and therapy rooms and 
associated medical and communal facilities. 

1.2 The building layout comprises consulting and therapy rooms, kitchen and office 
space at basement level, bedrooms and dining space at ground floor level, and a 
seminar room at first floor level. 

1.3 The building is designed as a ‘D’ shaped footprint comprising two ‘wings’ located 
around a secure landscaped inner courtyard that will be accessible from basement 
level. It would have a monopitched roof (sloping up from the building’s outer edge 
towards the internal courtyard) covered in cedar shingles. At the western most part 
of the building a first floor seminar room would be located within an oval shaped 
projection that would be visible above the outer D-shaped ‘wings’. Flat roof areas 
(behind the outer mono-pitched roof) and on the first floor projection are to be 
sedum. It is proposed to clad the ground floor in hardwood timber rain screen 
cladding, with the elevations broken into smaller sections in order to visually 
break-up the scale of outer elevations. 

1.4 The location of the new building would broadly occupy the positioning of the 
former school buildings, a number of which have been converted and brought into 
residential care home use by the Raphael Medical Centre (RMC).

1.5 Access would be via the existing access from Coldharbour Lane which serves the 
main RMC complex as well as other private residential properties located on the 
northern side of the access road. Thirteen additional parking spaces (including 2 
disabled spaces) are proposed to serve the new development, in addition to the 17 
existing parking spaces in this part of the site which will be retained. A drop-off 
area is proposed immediately adjacent to the entrance. 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 19 January 2017

1.6 The application is accompanied by a Needs Assessment which was submitted 
with the original application (in late 2015), together with further supporting 
justification which was submitted in May and September 2016. These are, in 
effect, the ‘very special circumstances’ advanced by the applicant to support its 
proposals. They can be summarised as follows:

 The RMC is a recognised specialist centre of excellence with a well-recognised 
track record in managing complex patients with brain injury. It is the ideal place 
for a new specialist care facility;

 The existing 8-bed special care unit is too small to meet the RMC’s needs or 
run efficiently, whilst some of the former school buildings are now semi-
derelict. The proposed new 28-bed unit will be more efficient, provide much 
needed additional support facilities as well as enabling the continuation of 
important research and provide training opportunities;

 The minimum size of a specialist inpatient rehabilitation unit is a 20 bed care 
facility, and must include co-located therapy facilities;

 The proposed facility would help to reduce bed-blocking in hospitals and long-
term health costs and community care costs that are incurred when adequate 
and early rehabilitation is not available;

 The RMC is currently the only service provided in the area able to treat and 
care for Category A patients (patients with highly complex needs) with the 
facilities to meet Level 1 (highly complex) and Level 2 (more complex) criteria;

 Whilst the applicant accepts that there is no comprehensive NHS data 
available on brain injury, the RMC’s own assessment of neurological 
rehabilitation facilities within Kent & Medway (based on an increasing 
population to 2026) suggests there is an undersupply of 140 bed spaces;

 The applicant suggests that the existing 8 bed special care unit has been at 
100% occupancy, with an average patient length of stay of 7 months 10 days. 
The RMC’s waiting list varies from time to time but is usually about 10 patients 
at any one time;

 The proposed facilities would include much needed X-ray and CT scanners, 
relieving pressure on the local District General Hospitals;

 The proposals are supported by the Kent and Medway NHS and Social Care 
Partnership Trust specialist consultants [DPHEH – it should be noted that a 
letter of support has been supplied from a Consultant Neuropsychiatrist 
working at Sevenoaks Hospital, as opposed to a letter of support on behalf of 
the NHS/Clinical Commissioning Group per se]. This supporting letter 
recognises the important work that the RMC currently undertake and highlights 
the closure of the only service in Kent & Medway that provides inpatient 

Page 14



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 19 January 2017

neurorehabilitation facilities – that being the West Kent Neurorehabilitation Unit 
at Sevenoaks Hospital;

 The geographical location of the site is well placed to accept patients from 
local and regional hospitals; 

 The RMC already provides local employment and the proposal would offer new 
and long-term skilled employment opportunities. In order to be most effective, 
the proposed facility should be co-located on the current site as to try and 
establish a new site elsewhere would be very difficult, prohibitively costly and 
take many years to develop; 

 The amenity and ambience of the site, comprising some 19 acres of 
landscaped grounds with a waterfall, gardens, woodland and lake, make it an 
ideal setting for the acute nature of the RMC’s work. The peace and quiet is 
vitally important and supports patient recovery; and

 Support for this planning application is therefore urgently sought to enable the 
RMC to continue to provide its vital and specialised services to help an 
increased number of patients on the road to recovery. 

1.7 A Transport Statement (TS) has been submitted detailing the proposed access to 
the site via the existing priority junction off Coldharbour Lane which currently 
serves the RMC. The TS considers trip generation for the proposed new facility 
compared to that of the extant use of the site as a school. It concludes that the 
proposed development would likely generate far less trips than the extant use, 
suggesting that over a typical day the proposed use would generate some 401 
less vehicular trips. A Travel Plan (TP) has also been submitted which sets out 
proposed measures to reduce car usage by visitors and staff, and to encourage 
more sustainable modes of transport (i.e. public transport, cycling and walking) for 
staff and visitors. 

1.8 An Arboricultural Report includes a survey of existing trees within the site. It is 
proposed to remove a number of trees (8 individual trees, 1 group and a hedge) to 
accommodate the proposed development. Of these trees to be removed, one is 
considered to be of significant value (a mature Wellingtonia) in arboricultural 
terms. The submitted report also sets out tree protection measures to ensure that 
all other remaining trees within the site are adequately protected during 
construction works. 

1.9 The proposals incorporate soft landscape works within the site including 
understorey planting, grass seeding, native bulb planting and shrub and climber 
planting. In addition, the inner courtyard would be planted with a mix of herbs, 
climbers and trees. It is proposed to remove the existing timber close-boarded 
fencing that screens the site from Coldharbour Lane – this would be replaced with 
mixed dense indigenous hedging and a low visibility wire fence for security. 

Page 15



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 19 January 2017

1.10 Further reports have been submitted covering ecology, sustainable design and 
construction, energy efficiency and contamination. A Statement of Community 
Involvement summarises comments from a locally held exhibition for residents’ 
and local organisations which was undertaken by the applicant in August 2015. 

2. Reason for reporting to Committee:

2.1 In light of the significant local interest generated by this application, that the 
previous application (TM/12/02640/FL) was also reported to Area 1 Planning 
Committee, and that the proposals representing a significant major development in 
the Green Belt. 

3. The Site:

3.1 The site lies within the Metropolitan Green Belt and open countryside. The rural 
settlement confines of Hildenborough are located to the immediate south of the 
application site. 

3.2 The RMC and its associated residential care home accommodation (St Michaels 
Court and Raphael Court) occupy a substantial area of land located on the 
western side of Coldharbour Lane. 

3.3 The application site comprises just under 1.4ha of land immediately abutting 
Coldharbour Lane which was formally Hardwick Park School and latterly Fosse 
Bank School. It encompasses a former school building, part of which has been 
converted by RMC to provide an 8 bed specialist care unit, whilst the remainder of 
the now dilapidated building has a lawful use as a school. The site also contains 
one prefabricated school building (mobile classroom) which has a permanent 
planning permission.  

3.4 Residential properties in Hardwick Road are located to the south west of the site 
and to the north east there are a number of residential properties situated in 
substantial plots. To the south east (beyond Coldharbour Lane) is open 
countryside.

3.5 The site is subject to extensive individual and group Tree Preservation Orders 
(TPO). The St Raphael Medical Centre, a Grade II Listed Building, is situated 
some 80m to the north west of the application site. 

3.6 The site is located in a low probability Flood Zone (Flood Zone 1); a category 
which comprises land assessed as having a less than 1 in 1,000 annual probability 
of river or sea flooding.

Page 16



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 19 January 2017

4. Planning History (relevant):

TM/98/02236/FL Grant With Conditions 26 March 1999

Two prefabricated classrooms

TM/02/01789/FL Approved 8 November 2002

Change of use from educational to residential institution and single storey 
extensions

 
TM/12/02640/FL Refuse 23 September 2013

Demolition of the former school buildings (part of which are currently occupied by 
the Raphael Centre for Class C2 care use and part of which are vacant) and 
redevelopment with a two storey building (plus ancillary basement) to provide a 
44 bedroom specialist care facility together with associated landscaping and car 
parking provision

 
5. Consultees:

5.1 Hildenborough PC: Request that the following concerns over the proposed 
development are taken into account:

 Emphasise the rural setting of the site and the need to maintain the 
environment for local residents;

 Concerns over the effect on local infrastructure – particularly the increased 
burden on the drainage system which has resulted in leakage of foul water in 
the past;

 Although the reduction in building height of this new proposed development 
compared to the previous application (TM/12/02640/FL) is welcomed, 
concerns with increase in footprint as well as a section at a height of two 
storeys. The proposals represent ‘inappropriate development’ in policy terms;

 Particularly concerned with the loss of an iconic Wellingtonia tree. Request that 
the Council’s tree officer must be fully satisfied that the loss of any trees, but in 
particular this Wellingtonia, is justified having regard to condition and amenity 
value;

 Notes that the application argues that traffic generation would be less than that 
previously associated with the former school. However, considerable doubt 
must exist as to whether this use would ever recommence and therefore feel 
that this application should be considered in its own right;

 Traffic generated by the RMC would generate a very different pattern of 
vehicle movement compared to school use when unlike that for the Medical 
Centre there would be little movements during weekends and school holiday 

Page 17



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 19 January 2017

times. The rural lane [Coldharbour Lane] is used extensively by pedestrians, 
cyclists and horse riders and we are concerned for their safety should the 
volume of traffic be increased by this proposed substantial development 
resulting in an increase number of staff, visitors and support services 
accessing the site;

 In the event that the Planning Authority concludes that the proposals do merit a 
favourable decision the PC would ask that the application be referred to 
Planning Committee and that robust conditions are imposed on any approval 
to cover the following matters: -

- Tree protection and requirement for arboricultural statement and 
supervision;

- Provision of satisfactory drainage on and off site;

- Submission of a construction method statement setting out how all aspects 
of the construction are supervised to ensure minimal impact on local 
residents and the area. This should include a regime that will allow 
residents to report concerns and incidents to those responsible for the site, 
including during out of office hours;

- Securing a robust travel plan, including annual monitoring and review over 
a 5 year period;

- External lighting designed to minimise impact on local residents and 
general area;

- Plant and machinery designed to minimise noise impacts; and

- A management protocol for the facilities including patient supervision when 
on and off-site given instances that have occurred locally in the past. 

5.2 KCC (H+T): No objections, confirming that the injury crash record on Coldharbour 
Lane remains good (low) and that the proposals offer significantly lower levels of 
traffic generation compared to what would be permitted otherwise without the need 
for a further planning application. Confirms that the proposed car parking 
arrangements are acceptable, as is the intended use of the existing access of 
Coldharbour Lane.  

5.3 KCC (Heritage): Notes that the site is of archaeological, historic building and 
historic landscape sensitivity – it is the site of a late post medieval residence 
known as Hollanden. The main building is identifiable on the 1st Ed OS Map and it 
is set within a range of historic landscapes with formal gardens, glasshouses and 
extensive nursery to the north east and specimen woodland and formal walkways 
around. Considers that the application should be supported by detailed historical 
assessment. 

Page 18



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 19 January 2017

5.4 KCC (LLFA): Raise no objection but request a sustainable drainage scheme, 
based on site infiltration testing, is required by condition. Also request that a 
condition is imposed preventing the infiltration of surface water drainage into the 
ground without the express permission of the Planning Authority. 

5.5 Environment Agency: Has assessed this application as having a low 
environmental risk and therefore have no comments to make. 

5.6 Upper Medway Internal Drainage Board: Raise no objection in principle, but 
request a drainage scheme by condition. 

5.7 Private Reps: 44 + Site Notice + Press Notice 0X/42R/5S, including a 
representation from the Hildenborough Village Preservation Society. The main 
reasons for objection to this application are:

 Major commercial development within a rural Green Belt site which represents 
‘inappropriate development’;

 Previous reasons for refusal (TM/12/02640/FL) should be upheld;

 Significant increase in built development within the site (and considers that the 
temporary school mobile should not be included in any existing floorspace 
calculations);

 Increased visual impact through the closer proximity of the new building to 
Coldharbour Lane and Hardwick Road, together with the increased new 
building height;

 Development is contrary to Hildenborough Local Plan;

 Concern over the loss of the Wellingtonia tree;

 Traffic concerns arising from proposed vehicle movements and timings, and 
safety concerns surrounding pedestrian, cyclist and horse rider users within 
Coldharbour Lane;

 Increase noise and disturbance from comings and goings which is 
inappropriate in a residential area;

 Highway improvements required to Coldharbour Lane – specifically road 
widening, street lighting, pedestrian pavements and traffic calming measures;

 The proposed building does not reflect the character or style of surrounding 
buildings in the local area;

 Increased light pollution;

Page 19



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 19 January 2017

 Concerns expressed over patients wandering un-supervised outside of the 
site;

 Questions the true “need” for this facility in this location;

 Construction concerns, especially resulting from the large basement area;

 Questions why all residents within Coldharbour Lane have not been notified of 
the application;

 Overlooking concerns of surrounding residential property; and

 Flooding and drainage concerns as a result of the new building;

5.8 5 letters of support, including a petition letter submitted by the ‘Friends and 
Relatives of Patients Resident at the Raphael Medical Centre’ have been received 
expressing strong support for the valuable work that the RMC undertakes from its 
site in Hildenborough and emphasising the need for the new specialist care 
facilities.    

6. Determining Issues:

6.1 Firstly, it is important to consider that this application represents a set of entirely 
new proposals submitted by the Raphael Medical Centre (RMC) to provide a new 
28-bed specialist care facility within its site off Coldharbour Lane in Hildenborough. 
These proposals do follow on from an earlier application (TM/12/02640/FL) for a 
markedly different 44-bed specialist care facility on the same site that was refused 
planning permission at the meeting of the Council’s Area 1 Planning Committee on 
12 September 2013. Whilst this earlier refusal does provide a relevant material 
planning consideration in the determination of this case, it must be stressed that 
the proposals which are now presented represent an entirely different building 
design and approach to meet the RMC’s needs. It is, of course, the case that each 
application must be determined on its own individual merits, having regard to the 
relevant policies contained in the Council’s Development Plan, together with any 
other material planning considerations. 

Development in the Green Belt:

6.2 The site lies outside of the rural settlement confines of Hildenborough as identified 
in the Council’s adopted LDF and lies within the Metropolitan Green Belt where 
restrictive planning policy applies. The Green Belt is a strategic designation 
intended to (inter alia) check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas and 
prevent the merging of neighbouring towns into one another. 

6.3 TMBCS Policy CP3 states that national Green Belt policy will be applied to 
proposals within Green Belt land. National Green Belt policy is set out in 
paragraphs 79-92 of the NPPF. In particular, it identifies that a LPA should regard 

Page 20



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 19 January 2017

the construction of new buildings in the Green Belt as inappropriate development 
which is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved 
except in ‘very special circumstances’ (VSCs). 

6.4 It must first be determined whether the proposed new building could meet any of 
the exceptions to inappropriate development as set out in paragraph 89 of the 
NPPF. The most pertinent exceptions relevant to this proposal being:

 The replacement of a building, provided the new building is in the same use 
and not materially larger than the one it replaces; or…

 Limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously 
developed sites (brownfield land), whether redundant or in continuing use 
(excluding temporary buildings), which would not have a greater impact on the 
openness of the Green Belt and the purpose of including land within it than the 
existing development.

6.5 I recognise that the proposed new specialist care facility building (a C2 land use) is 
intended to replace existing buildings on the application site and that part of these 
buildings are currently used as a specialist care unit within a C2 (residential 
institution) use class. The remaining part of the existing buildings which would be 
replaced as part of the proposals have a lawful D1 (non-residential institution) use 
classification associated with their former use as a school. On the basis that the 
proposals do not simply relate to a pure replacement of an existing building with a 
new building wholly in the same use class, I am of the opinion that the 4th bullet 
point exception to inappropriate development (i.e. the replacement of a building, 
provided the new building is in the same use and not materially larger than the one 
it replaces) cannot be applied in this instance.  

6.6 It is also clear that the proposed new specialist care facility building is materially 
larger than the existing permanent buildings that it would replace. In this respect, 
and to provide some approximate building dimension comparisons, the height of 
the proposed new building would be 4.2m to ridge height at ground floor and 7.3m 
to ridge height at first floor, compared to the existing single storey building ridge 
height of 5.7m. In addition, the approximate floorspace of the proposed new 
building would be 3,540 sq. metres (including basement, ground and first floor 
accommodation), compared to the existing single storey building floorspace of 
approximately 1,498 sq. metres. These figures indicate not only a physically larger 
building in first floor height terms, but also a considerably larger replacement 
building in floorspace terms. In light of this, I can only conclude that the proposed 
replacement building is materially larger than the one it replaces.   

6.7 The applicant has advanced the position that the proposed building would 
represent a footprint increase of 15% over and above the existing built footprint 
within the application site; however, from my own approximate calculations I would 
suggest that this is more likely to be a 27% increase in building footprint. It should 

Page 21



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 19 January 2017

also be noted that some question has been raised as to whether the existing 
mobile classroom which occupies the site should be counted within existing and 
permanent built development on the site. This existing mobile classroom benefits 
from a permanent planning permission (SW/6/73/290) and therefore, rightly so, its 
floorspace should be taken into consideration in respect of the existing built 
footprint datum for the site. It would also be worth noting at this juncture that 
another former mobile classroom was removed from the site in 2014 – this 
particular building only benefited from a temporary consent and, following the 
service of an Enforcement Notice, was removed from the site during 2014. The 
building footprint of this former temporary mobile classroom is therefore not 
included in any existing building footprint calculations. 

6.8 Turning to the 6th bullet point exception to inappropriate development as set out in 
NPPF para. 89 (i.e. limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of 
previously developed sites (brownfield land), whether redundant or in continuing 
use (excluding temporary buildings), which would not have a greater impact on the 
openness of the Green Belt and the purpose of including land within it than the 
existing development), I can conclude that the application site can, in part, be 
regarded as previously developed land with permanent buildings. However, given 
the size increases set out above in terms of building floorspace, footprint and 
overall height, in my view the proposals would clearly have a greater impact on the 
openness of the Green Belt and the purpose of including land within it than the 
existing development.   

6.9 Taking these factors into account, it is my view that the proposal quite clearly falls 
outside of the relevant Green Belt policy exceptions and, accordingly, it would 
constitute inappropriate development within the Green Belt, by definition. The 
NPPF makes it clear (in para. 87) that inappropriate development is, by definition, 
harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special 
circumstances. It goes on to state (in para. 88) that when considering any planning 
application, LPAs should ensure that substantial weight is given to any harm to the 
Green Belt. VSCs will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by 
reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other 
considerations. In this case, it is therefore necessary to consider whether the 
proposed development causes any other harm and whether there are any other 
considerations relevant to the overall balance that would amount to VSCs.

6.10 In addition to the definitional harm caused to the Green Belt by virtue of the 
‘inappropriate’ nature of the development, I consider that the physical form of the 
proposed building – i.e. it being larger than the buildings it replaces in floorspace, 
footprint and height terms – would result in harm to the openness of the Green 
Belt in this location. It must be remembered at this juncture that the Government 
attaches great importance to the Green Belt. The fundamental aim of national 
Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open; 
the essential characteristics of Green Belts are their openness and their 
permanence [my emphasis added]. 

Page 22



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 19 January 2017

6.11 The proposed building is designed around a central internal ‘D’ shaped courtyard, 
covering much of the existing footprint of both the existing buildings and the hard 
surfaced area (former playground). The proposed new replacement building would 
be significantly ‘cut-in’ to the existing site topography to create the below-ground 
basement level. The resulting impact is that the proposed building would 
undoubtedly have a greater internal floorspace (increased from 1,498 to 3,540 sq. 
metres), it would have a higher ridge height (in part) and would bring the extent of 
built development closer towards the site frontage with Coldharbour Lane 
compared with the existing permanent buildings that currently occupy the site. I 
therefore conclude that the physical size of the replacement building is of a 
significantly larger scale, and will undoubtedly cause harm to the Green Belt by 
virtue of an overall reduction in the openness of the Green Belt in this location. 

6.12 With the above considerations in mind, it is necessary to establish whether very 
special circumstances exist in this case which outweigh the degree of harm 
caused by the proposed development by virtue of its inappropriate nature and its 
physical impact on openness and any other harm identified. In my view, the VSCs 
hinge on whether there is an actual ‘need’ for the specialist care facility and then, if 
the need can be demonstrated, whether it is essential to have a building of this 
size and in this location in order to satisfy that need.

6.13 The application accepts, by its own omission, that there is no quantifiable data 
available from the NHS, or other independent sources, which could demonstrate a 
robust case of medical ‘need’ for the proposed 28 bed specialist care facility. It is 
this very issue which has delayed the determination of this case (which was 
submitted back in late 2015) since officers have allowed the applicant a significant 
additional period of time in which to advance a robust case of ‘very special 
circumstances’, focussing on a clearly evidenced case of need for the proposed 
new facility at this site. Despite a considerable period of additional time being 
afforded to the applicant for that very purpose, little additional information has 
been forthcoming. Having been entirely reasonable in allowing the applicant this 
additional period of time, it is now necessary to determine the application based on 
the information submitted.

6.14 It is appropriate to acknowledge and recognise the valuable work which the RMC 
undertakes from its existing premises in Hildenborough – I must make it clear that 
this point is not in dispute in this case, but instead these proposals for a significant 
expansion at the site must be considered on their own merits and in light of 
prevailing development plan policy, policy guidance and other material planning 
considerations. It is simply not possible in planning terms to justify the grant of 
planning permission for a major new care facility within this Green Belt location on 
the basis of emotive reasons, or the track record of an applicant in terms of the 
valuable medical work they undertake. 

6.15 The applicant has provided supporting information in respect of its claimed ‘need’ 
for the new specialist care facility; the key points of which I have outlined at 

Page 23



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 19 January 2017

paragraph 1.6 above. A balanced planning judgement must therefore be made as 
to whether these justifications are capable of individually, or cumulatively, forming 
VSCs that override the harm to the Green Belt by reason of the proposed 
development’s inappropriateness, and the any other harm which would result from 
the proposals.

6.16 In this instance it is unfortunate that there is no NHS, or other independently 
verified data, available which demonstrates an actual bed space ‘need’ for 
neurological rehabilitation facilities in the locality. The applicants own needs 
assessments appears somewhat ambiguous and difficult to quantify to such an 
extent to reasonably or robustly rely on an actual clearly evidenced ‘need’ being 
demonstrated which could form a VSC when considered against the high-level test 
afforded to the protection of Green Belt land under the NPPF. I therefore conclude 
that, in this instance, the applicant has been unable to sufficiently present a 
justifiable case of need for the new 28 bed specialist care facility which outweighs 
the degree of harm that I have identified that would arise in this instance. 

6.17 The supporting documents clearly identify these proposals as an extension and 
expansion of the existing facilities provided at this site by the RMC, highlighting 
that there is already a team of existing healthcare professionals at the site who are 
leading expects in their specialist field of neurological rehabilitation. Moreover, it 
states that the RMC is the only service provider in the Kent & Medway area to 
treat and care for Category A patients with the facilities to meet Level 1 and Level 
2 complex care needs (i.e. patients with the most profound physical disabilities, 
cognitive communication disabilities or challenging behaviours). It is suggested 
that the co-location of facilities at this existing site allows for links to step-down 
community rehabilitation in a number of self-contained units within the main 
grounds of the RMC which are used by patients being progressed to independent 
living with minimal support.

6.18 The applicant argues that the extensive grounds (circa 19 acres of landscape 
grounds) set within the Kent countryside provides an ideal setting for the acute 
nature of the RMC’s work, specifically that the peace and quiet is vitally important 
in supporting patient recovery, especially in the early stages. 

6.19 It should however be borne in mind that this proposal is not being made on behalf 
of the NHS but rather by a service provider who currently provides specialist 
services to the NHS; the supporting information states that around 95% of the 
RMC’s patients are referred and funded by the NHS and the RMCs work is 
actively supported by the NHS. In the latter respect, it should be noted that the 
applicant has included several letters of support by health care professionals, 
including one from a Consultant Neuropsychiatrist operating in the NHS; it must 
however be stated that there is no letter of support from a NHS Clinical 
Commissioning Group per se. 

Page 24



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 19 January 2017

6.20 At the time when the previous application was considered (in July 2013), it was 
concluded that on the basis of the reorganisation of the NHS (post April 2013) the 
proposals were somewhat premature in their assertions, particularly bearing in 
mind the complex processes that the NHS health care sector must undergo in the 
first instance to define need. On that basis, it was concluded that a sufficient case 
of very special circumstances had not been advanced that would outweigh the 
substantial degree of harm to the Green Belt that would be caused by the 
proposed development by virtue of its inappropriate nature, and the clear harm 
caused to openness by its physical form and the other harm identified as a result 
of its physicality and the expansion of the use. 

6.21 The applicant undertook pre-application discussions with the Planning Authority 
prior to the submission of this application, where fficers stressed the importance of 
demonstrating an overriding case of very special circumstances or to keep the 
replacement built form to such a level that it could be considered to meet with one 
of the exceptions to inappropriate development as set out in para. 89 of the NPPF. 

6.22 In terms of the overall balance of all the factors that determine whether a justifiable 
claim for very special circumstances has been made in support of the proposal 
that constitutes inappropriate development and harm to the MGB, I conclude that 
those matters discussed above do not amount to a sufficient case of very special 
circumstances which exist in this particular case to outweigh the degree of harm 
that would arise in this instance. 

Development within the countryside:

6.23 In addition to the Green Belt designation, it is important to note that in more 
general terms, the application site forms open countryside, outside the village 
settlement confines of Hildenborough. Policy CP14 of the TMBCS seeks to limit 
development within the countryside to a limited number of instances, the most 
relevant to this case being:

 Extensions to existing settlements in accordance with TMBCS Policies CP11 
or CP12;

 […] conversion of an existing building for residential use; or

 development required for the limited expansion of an existing authorised 
employment use; or

 any other development for which a rural location is essential. 

6.24 CP11 of the TMBCS states that development will be concentrated within the 
confines of the urban areas (Tonbridge, the Medway Gap and Walderslade) and 
that development adjoining these urban areas will only be permitted if there is an 
identified need and there are not suitable sites within the urban areas.

Page 25



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 19 January 2017

6.25 CP12 of the TMBCS allows for development adjoining the rural confines of (inter 
alia) Hildenborough provided that there are no alternative suitable sites and where 
there is a local justification related to the housing, employment, community or 
social needs of the settlement and its environs. 

6.26 With this policy context in mind, whilst the proposed facility would arguably result 
in some increased employment at the site, the proposals could not reasonably be 
justified as a limited expansion of an existing authorised employment use. 
Similarly, whilst I do acknowledge the applicant’s justification that a tranquil 
location is important in order to assist with patient recovery, it would be difficult to 
justify in policy terms that a rural/countryside location for the new facility is 
essential under the terms of TMBCS Policy CP14. I do however accept that the 
applicant does have an element of ‘fall-back’ in so far as increased C2 care 
accommodation could, in theory, be created at the site by lawfully converting the 
existing former School buildings. With that said, it would in no way amount to the 
scale of development being proposed as part of this scheme within the 
countryside. Taking these factors into account, I conclude that the proposed 
development falls outside of the requirements of adopted planning policy relating 
to development in the countryside. 

6.27 It is important to remember that the Council, in its role as the Local Planning 
Authority, is required to determine planning applications in accordance with the 
Development Plan in force (in this case those policies cited above) unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. 

6.28 It is therefore necessary, in this instance, to establish whether any other material 
planning considerations exist that outweigh the above Green Belt and countryside 
policy considerations in this particular circumstance. 

Detailed assessment of the proposed development:

6.29 I am mindful that one of the core principles contained within the NPPF centres on 
attaching great importance to the design of the built environment, stating that good 
design is a key aspect of sustainable development and is indivisible from good 
planning (paragraph 56). Paragraph 58 of the NPPF states that planning decisions 
should aim to ensure that developments respond to local character and history 
and reflect the identity of local surroundings and materials, while not preventing or 
discouraging appropriate innovation. It also stresses that planning decisions 
should not attempt to impose architectural styles or particular tastes. Paragraph 65 
states that planning permission for buildings which promote high levels of 
sustainability should not be refused because of concerns about incompatibility with 
an existing townscape if those concerns have been mitigated by good design. 

6.30 Similarly, TMBCS Policy CP24 requires that development must respect the site 
and its surroundings and that it will not be permitted where it would be detrimental 
to the built environment and amenity of a locality. This is supported by Policy SQ1 

Page 26



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 19 January 2017

of the MDE DPD which states that all new development proposals should protect, 
conserve and where possible enhance:

 the character and local distinctiveness of the area including any historical and 
architectural interest and the prevailing level of tranquillity;

 the distinctive setting of, and relationship between, the pattern of settlement, 
roads and the landscape, urban form and important views.

6.31 In considering the overall impact of the proposals on the visual amenities of the 
rural area, whilst it is noted that the site itself does not fall within one of the 
character areas as defined by the Hildenborough Character Area SPD (owing to 
its location within the countryside outside of the built-up confines), it is nonetheless 
still relevant to have regard to this document insofar as the development relates to 
the adjoining rural settlement to the south. The SPD recognises that the respective 
characters of Hardwick Road and Coldharbour Lane are such that there is a 
general cohesiveness in terms of built form (particularly in Hardwick Road), with a 
general dominance of landscape over buildings and a private, secluded ambiance 
being highlighted as features of positive distinctiveness. In light of the policies 
cited above, it is fundamental that the proposed development, as a neighbouring 
building, should take into account these characteristics.

6.32 The new building has been designed, from the context of the surrounding 
landscaping, to appear as a predominantly single storey building – albeit with a 
two storey element in the central part of the building above the entrance area. In 
terms of materials, the external surface materials respond positively to the sites 
rural/wooded landscape. Cedar shingles would cover the outward facing 
monopitched roof, sitting above an undulating eaves lines. A series of outer ‘bays’ 
within the ground floor facades would serve to break the building elevations up into 
a series of smaller elements, thereby reducing the overall sense of visual bulk of 
the building. Externally, it is proposed to clad the ground floor of the building in 
hardwood timber rain screen cladding. 

6.33 It is my view that through the use of the cutting-in of the building into the existing 
site topography, the predominantly low-level outer ‘wings’, the detailing of the 
elevations and the spread of built development within the site, the applicant has 
been able to demonstrate the successful integration of the proposed building into 
this rural, wooded landscape without an unacceptable harmful or jarring impact to 
its prevailing character and street-scene appearance. I would stress that the 
building design approach in this case is markedly different from the earlier refused 
scheme (TM/12/02640/FL) where such a conclusion could not be reached.  

6.34 A number of trees (8 trees, 1 group and a hedge) would need to be removed to 
accommodate the proposed development. However, of those trees, one is 
considered to be of significant value (a mature Wellingtonia) in arboricultural 
terms, and also in general public amenity terms. This Wellingtonia tree is a 

Page 27



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 19 January 2017

magnificent mature specimen – like a number of others within the site; however 
this unfortunately falls within the footprint of the proposed building. The remaining 
landscaping proposals are acceptable and appropriate for this site, including a 
proposal to remove the existing timber close-boarded fence that forms the front 
site boundary with Coldharbour Lane and to replace it with mixed dense 
indigenous hedging. This existing fence currently forms an urbanising feature in 
what is a rural landscape and therefore its removal and replacement with a native 
hedgerow would be a positive visual improvement to the locality. 

6.35 Whilst I have no objection to the removal of the Wellingtonia tree in principle – a 
position that I am mindful was similarly adopted with the previously refused 
scheme (TM/12/02640/FL), it must be noted that the loss of such a large tree 
would be at odds with the general established character of the area being one 
where there is a recognised dominance of landscape over buildings. 

6.36 In terms of the impacts of the physical building itself on the neighbouring residents, 
the building is to be located some distance away from the nearest residential 
properties (approximately 37-39m from the nearest properties to the north east, 
and 41-64m from the nearest properties to the south). I am satisfied that, based on 
these distances, the proposed building form and intervening vegetation (much of 
which will be retained) there would be no unacceptable impact on residential 
amenity in terms of either loss of privacy or overshadowing.

6.37 I recognise that the site does lie outside of the Hildenborough Rural Settlement 
confines but is located on the periphery of these confines and is not therefore in a 
wholly isolated location. Hildenborough is accessible by a range of public transport 
services, although the site is some distance from the main line railway station and 
the centre of community facilities. Whilst patients would clearly require private 
transportation, there would nevertheless be the opportunities for staff and visitors 
to access the proposed facility by public transport services. 

6.38 One of the main concerns raised by the local residents relates to traffic generation. 
In this respect, it must be remembered that the site was previously occupied by a 
school (Hardwick Park School and latterly Fosse Bank School), which operated as 
a special school at one time, and latterly as a private school where pupils tended 
to be delivered to site by vehicle rather than as a conventional primary school with 
a proportion of walking pupils from the local catchment area. If that part of the site 
re-established a lawful D1 use, for which planning permission would not be 
required, then there would be traffic generation attributed to that use. The 
presence of an existing lawful use at a site is well established as being the 
appropriate datum against which to assess any new planning proposals.  

6.39 In this case, the applicant has demonstrated that the traffic generated by the 
proposal is likely to be less than the site’s lawful use. This conclusion appears 
entirely reasonable and is accepted both by the Highway and Planning Authorities. 
KCC (H+T) has assessed the proposals and state that there are no grounds to 

Page 28



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 19 January 2017

warrant a refusal on grounds of traffic generation; the same position previously 
adopted in respect of the previous proposals (TM/12/02640/FL). 

6.40 Concerns have also been expressed over the access to the site and that of 
highway safety on the basis that there are no footways in this part of Coldharbour 
Lane and that it is used by walkers, children and horse riders. On the basis of the 
assessment set out in the previous paragraph and that the lawful use of the site 
could give rise to a greater level of traffic generation there would be no justification 
for refusing the application on these grounds. In this context, the advice contained 
in paragraph 32 of the NPPF is most relevant – i.e. that development should only 
be prevented or refused on transport grounds where the residual cumulative 
impacts of development are severe. 

6.41 It is generally accepted that short-term demolition and construction phases 
associated with a new development do inevitably result in some levels of 
disruption to nearby residents. In this particular instance, had the proposals been 
acceptable in all other respects, it would have been entirely reasonable to require 
details of a construction management plan (covering demolition and construction 
phases) via planning condition based on the major scale of these development 
proposals. Informatives could also have been imposed on any consent, covering 
aspects such as hours of working and deliveries in an attempt to minimise these 
impacts on residents.

6.42 Hildenborough PC and residents have expressed concern over the drainage of the 
site which is understood to have been an ongoing issue in Coldharbour Lane for 
some time. Given the scale of the proposals, and on the basis of the technical 
consultee advice received from KCC (as the Lead Local Flood Authority), a 
planning condition could have been imposed requiring the submission of a 
sustainable drainage scheme had the proposals been acceptable in all other 
respects. I am satisfied that this would have been an entirely acceptable way to 
deal with this matter and therefore could not form part of a reason for refusal in 
this instance. 

6.43 The application site forms part of the wider grounds of St Raphael Centre (former 
Hollanden Park), a Grade II Listed Building, situated some 80m north west of the 
proposed buildings location. Paragraph 131 of the NPPF states that LPAs should 
take account of the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of 
heritage assets (in this case the Listed Building). Paragraph 132 states that when 
considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s 
conservation. Significance of such an asset can be harmed or lost through 
alteration of the asset or through development within its setting.

6.44 Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
requires that in considering whether to grant planning permission for development 
which affects a listed building or its setting, the LPA shall have special regard to 

Page 29



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 19 January 2017

the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses. 

6.45 KCC (Heritage) has noted that the site forms part of the late post medieval 
residence known as Hollanden, with the main building set within a range of 
extensive historic landscapes with formal gardens, glasshouses and extensive 
nursery to the north east and specimen woodland and formal walkways around. In 
consideration of this case, the site of the new building generally occupies the 
footprint currently covered by existing buildings and hard standings – those being 
used by the RMC and those formally occupied by the school. The application 
would not, therefore, introduce new built development into a part of the site that is 
currently undeveloped. It is also worthy of note that the location of the proposed 
new building is well separated in visual terms from the curtilage and setting of the 
main listed building through well-established, mature, vegetation, the majority of 
which would be retained as part of the proposals. On the basis of the location and 
form of the new development, I am satisfied that the proposals would not give rise 
to harm to the significance of the heritage asset (the St Raphael Centre) in terms 
of its setting or in terms of any features of special architectural or historic interest 
which is possesses. Accordingly, I have no objections to these proposals from a 
heritage perspective. 

6.46 The submitted Ecology Survey notes that the results of a 2012 and 2015 bat 
survey indicate that low numbers of common pipistrelle and brown long-eared bats 
use locations throughout the roof areas of both the actively used and disused 
buildings for roosting purposes. The report makes recommendations that a 
European Protected Species Mitigation licence should be applied for (by the 
applicant). The report details no evidence of great crested newts or reptiles within 
the site. I am satisfied that had the proposals been acceptable in all other 
respects, a condition could have been imposed covering the required ecological 
mitigation works and that there would have been no objections based on 
ecological impact. 

6.47 Like the previous application (TM/12/02640/FL), concern has been raised 
regarding increased comings and goings from the site at anti-social times and 
potential concerns about unsupervised patients being allowed to wander freely 
from the site into the wider local neighbourhood. It is important to consider this 
matter in some detail as it did form one of the reasons for refusal of the earlier 
scheme (TM/12/02640/FL), as follows:

"3. The residents of the area and the adjoining properties now experience material 
problems and instances arising from the existing use of the site. In the absence of 
any evidence detailing how extended use would be managed, the proposed 
expansion of the use has the potential to further exacerbate these problems, to the 
detriment of the amenities which local residents could reasonably expect to enjoy 
in a location such as this. As such, the proposal is contrary to the requirements of 
paragraph 69 of the NPPF, Policy CP24 of the Tonbridge and Malling Borough 

Page 30



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 19 January 2017

Core Strategy 2007 and Policy SQ1 of the Managing Development and the 
Environment DPD 2010. 

Reason: The Local Planning Authority does not consider that there is any 
justification, in the circumstances of the present application, for overriding the 
planning policy objections.”

6.48 In terms of the perceived increase in noise/disturbance from the site and the 
potential for anti-social hour’s vehicle movements, this would not be a reason to 
refuse planning permission or a matter which could be controlled through the 
planning system. I would argue that the proposed comings and goings would be 
similar to those associated with the existing RMC and am mindful that the datum 
for such assessment must be made against the site’s extant use (i.e. with a mix of 
C2 and D1 planning uses). 

6.49 In terms of the supervision of patients within the site, the applicant has providing 
supporting information which sets out that owing to the severity of patients being 
looked after within the proposed specialist care unit, staffing levels would be very 
high (not more than 2 patients per nurse at all times). It also states that patients 
would not be able to walk freely outside of the RMC grounds, and that any patients 
that could go out into the community as part of their rehabilitation (i.e. Café 1809, 
or to local shops) would be accompanied by a care worker. Moreover, it must of 
course be considered that the very nature of patients that would be treated within 
the proposed specialist care facility (i.e. those with profound physical or mental 
disabilities) would be immobile and not able to walk freely within or outside of the 
RMC grounds. On the basis of the submitted information, and the operational 
controls in place at the RMC, I consider this previous ground for refusal has been 
satisfactorily overcome and in this case do not consider that this concern could 
form a ground of refusal in this instance in the same way that it did previously in 
respect of the earlier scheme (TM/12/02640/FL).

Conclusions:

6.50 In light of the above assessment, I conclude that the proposal constitutes 
inappropriate development within the Green Belt, which is by definition harmful 
and would also result in actual harm to the open character and function of the 
Green Belt owing to the materially larger replacement building. Having considered 
the other relevant material planning considerations as outlined within this report, I 
do not consider there to be an overriding set of very special circumstances that 
would outweigh this degree of harm that I have identified. I have also concluded 
that these proposals represent a form of development which does not comply with 
adopted countryside policy set out in TMBCS CP14, and I have not found any 
overriding material planning considerations which exist in this instance to set aside 
the requirements of this development plan policy. 

6.51 It is nevertheless unfortunate that, despite a previous unsuccessful application, 
pre-application discussions, and a substantial allowance of additional time being 

Page 31



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 19 January 2017

afforded to the applicant to demonstrate a clear supporting case of need for its 
proposals, a successful outcome cannot be reached in this instance in respect of 
fundamental Green Belt and countryside policy matters. Whilst I am satisfied that 
the proposals are acceptable (or could be made acceptable though the imposition 
of conditions) in a number of other more general planning matters, such as 
highways and parking, neighbouring amenity and in overall design terms, these 
are not fundamental overriding material considerations which could weigh heavily 
in favour of the grant of planning permission in this instance.

6.52 I therefore recommend refusal of planning permission accordingly. 

7. Recommendation:

7.1 Refuse Planning Permission in accordance with the following submitted details: 

Statement  MANAGEMENT STATEMENT  dated 02.03.2016, Report  HERITAGE 
STATEMENT  dated 02.03.2016, Supporting Information  NHS AND SOCIAL 
CARE PARTNERSHIP  dated 26.11.2015, Desk Study Assessment  11820  dated 
19.10.2015, Planning Statement    dated 19.10.2015, Flood Risk Assessment    
dated 12.11.2015, Transport Statement    dated 19.10.2015, Travel Plan    dated 
19.10.2015, Arboricultural Survey    dated 19.10.2015, Design Statement    dated 
19.10.2015, Ecological Survey    dated 19.10.2015, Photograph    dated 
19.10.2015, Photograph    dated 19.10.2015, Photograph    dated 19.10.2015, 
Protected Species Report dated 19.10.2015, Report  COMMUNITY CONS  dated 
19.10.2015, Supporting Information  NEEDS ASSESSMEMT  dated 19.10.2015, 
Existing Site Plan  290/01  dated 19.10.2015, Existing Elevations  290/16  dated 
19.10.2015, Existing Elevations  290/17  dated 19.10.2015, Site Plan  290/18  
dated 19.10.2015, Location Plan  290/28  dated 19.10.2015, Proposed Plans  
290/19  dated 19.10.2015, Proposed Floor Plans  290/20 Basement dated 
19.10.2015, Proposed Floor Plans  290/21 Ground dated 19.10.2015, Proposed 
Floor Plans  290/22 First dated 19.10.2015, Sections  290/23  dated 19.10.2015, 
Proposed Elevations  290/24  dated 19.10.2015, Proposed Elevations  290/25  
dated 19.10.2015, Proposed Elevations  290/26  dated 19.10.2015, Proposed 
Elevations  290/27  dated 19.10.2015, Letter 0547/RAP15-4  dated 20.05.2016, 
Email dated 29.09.2016, Email dated 29.09.2016. 

Reasons:

1. The site lies within the Metropolitan Green Belt where there is a strong presumption 
against permitting inappropriate development, as defined in paragraphs 89 and 90 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework 2012. The proposed development 
comprises inappropriate development which is by definition harmful to the 
Metropolitan Green Belt. In addition, the materially larger scale of the proposed 
building (in terms of its increased height, floorspace and footprint) would cause 
substantial harm to the open characteristics of the site and the openness of the 
Green Belt in this location. No very special circumstances exist which would be 
sufficient to outweigh the degree of harm caused to the Metropolitan Green Belt. As 

Page 32



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 19 January 2017

such, the proposed development is contrary to the requirements of Section 9 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2012 and Policy CP3 of the Tonbridge and 
Malling Borough Core Strategy 2007.

2. The site lies in open countryside, outside the rural settlement confines of 
Hildenborough where Tonbridge and Malling Borough Core Strategy 2007 Policy 
CP14 seeks to restrict new development to a limited number of instances. The 
proposed development does not meet any of these defined exceptions and therefore 
represents an inappropriate form of major development in the countryside, contrary 
to the requirements of this policy. There are no overriding material planning 
considerations which indicate that the provisions of Tonbridge and Malling Borough 
Core Strategy 2007 Policy CP14 should be set aside in this instance. 

Contact: Julian Moat

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 19 January 2017

TM/15/03345/FL

Raphael Medical Centre Coldharbour Lane Hildenborough Tonbridge Kent TN11 9LE

Demolition of former school buildings (part of which are occupied by the Raphael 
Medical Centre for Class C2 care use and part of which are vacant) and redevelopment 
with a two storey building and basement to provide a 28 bedroom specialist care facility 
with landscaping and car parking

For reference purposes only.  No further copies may be made.  Crown copyright.  All rights reserved.  Tonbridge and Malling 
Borough Council Licence No. 100023300 2015.

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 19 January 2017

Tonbridge
Castle

19 January 2017 TM/16/02987/OA

Proposal: Outline Application: Detached 3 bedroom dwelling house (all 
matters reserved)

Location: Land Adjoining 11 Uridge Crescent Tonbridge Kent   
Applicant: Circle Housing
Go to: Recommendation

1. Description:

1.1 This application seeks outline planning permission to erect a detached two storey, 
3 bedroom dwellinghouse on land to the north of 11 Uridge Crescent.  The 
application form states that this land, which is currently laid to hardstanding, is 
currently used as a car park.  All matters are reserved for future consideration (i.e. 
matters of Appearance, Access, Landscaping, Layout and Scale).

1.2 The submitted Block Plan indicates that it is proposed to construct a new vehicular 
crossover onto Uridge Crescent.  The submitted Block Plan indicates that the 
external parking area would be approximately 3m in width by 4.8m in depth, which 
would be sufficient to provide 1 off-street parking space. The submitted Block Plan 
indicates a dwelling of 10m (width) x 6m (depth) and that the dwelling would 
contain approximately 86sq. metres of internal accommodation.

2. Reason for reporting to Committee:

2.1 The application has been called to Committee by Councillor Branson due to the 
level of public interest.

3. The Site:

3.1 The application site is almost square in shape and located on the corner of Uridge 
Crescent and Welland Road.  The site is located within the settlement confines of 
Tonbridge within a predominantly residential area.

3.2 The land in question is currently laid to hardstanding and is currently used for car 
parking.

3.3 Opposite the application site to the north of Welland Road is Tonbridge Cemetery, 
with the site surrounded by residential properties on all other sides. The properties 
to the east, on Welland Road, consist of a two storey flat development, with the 
dwellings in Uridge Crescent being two storey semi-detached properties.

4. Planning History (relevant):

4.1 None relevant.

Page 37

Agenda Item 6



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 19 January 2017

5. Consultees:

5.1 KCC (H+T): No objections raised – the proposals do not meet the criteria to 
warrant involvement from the Highway Authority.

5.2 Private Reps & Site Notice: 13/0X/8R/0S. 8 letters of objection received raising the 
following points:

 This is an outline application with no Design and Access Statement or 
demonstration as to how the site can accommodate the dwelling;

 Loss of privacy and overlooking;

 Out of character – cramped appearance and overdevelopment of the site;

 Overshadowing of neighbouring properties;

 The design does not afford adequate privacy;

 The proposed garden is too small compared to other plots and leaves little 
space for landscaping;

 Loss of valuable community space which is used as a car park by local 
residents;

 Increased risk to pedestrians and road users from relocation of access;

 The siting of the access will remove 2-3 on-street parking spaces and parking 
is already under pressure;

 The proposals only include 1 parking space for the new dwelling and no 
turning facilities;

 Building works will be disruptive to residents in terms of noise and parking for 
tradesmen and storage of building materials during construction;

 The telephone pole will need to be relocated; and

 Impact on wildlife as bats roost in cemetery to the north of the site.

6. Determining Issues:

6.1 The delivery of new housing lies at the heart of the NPPF, with the supply for 
housing to meet need expressed as one of the core roles which the planning 
system must perform to achieve sustainable development. It states that best use 
should be made of opportunities within existing urban areas to meet housing need 
by encouraging the effective use of land that has been previously developed, 
provided that it is not of high environmental value (paragraph 111). The NPPF 

Page 38



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 19 January 2017

defines previously developed land as being land which is, or was, occupied by a 
permanent structure, including the curtilage of the developed land (although it 
should not be assumed that the whole of the curtilage should be developed) and 
any associated fixed surface infrastructure. Annex 2 of the NPPF specifically 
excludes private residential gardens in built up areas from the definition of PDL. 
The land which forms the application site is used as a hard surfaced car park and 
therefore I am of the view that it does constitute PDL.  Therefore, the broad 
principle of development is acceptable.  It should also be recognised that the site 
is located in a sustainable location, within the urban area of Tonbridge and within 
fairly close proximity to the Town Centre with its associated public transport 
connections and services.  

6.2 The relevant development plan policies most pertinent to the consideration of this 
application are as follows:

 CP1 of the TMBCS – all proposals for new development must result in a high 
quality sustainable environment, and that developments should be 
concentrated at the highest density compatible with the local built and natural 
environment, mainly on previously developed land served by sustainable 
modes of transport;

 CP11 of the TMBCS – development should be concentrated in urban areas 
including Tonbridge;

 CP24 of the TMBCS – all developments should be well designed and of a high 
quality in terms of detailing and use of appropriate materials, and must through 
its scale, density, layout, siting, character and appearance be designed to 
respect the site and its surroundings; and

 SQ1 of the MDE DPD – developments should protect, conserve and wherever 
possible, enhance the character and local distinctiveness of the area.

6.3 The proposal is submitted as an outline application, where the LPA is required to 
make a decision on the general principles of how the site can be developed. In this 
instance, the outline application is submitted with all matters (i.e. access, 
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale) reserved for future consideration. 
Nevertheless, where the proposed means of access is a reserved matter, an 
applicant is required to demonstrate where the access point to the proposed 
development will be situated.

6.4 Accordingly, the proposed plans show a new vehicle access crossover from 
Uridge Crescent, together with an off-street parking area sufficient for the parking 
of 1 car. There have been no highway objections raised and the proposed means 
of access, some 8m to the south of the junction of Uridge Crescent and Welland 
Road, together with the indicative off-street parking area, are considered to be 
acceptable in this instance. Whilst some concern has been raised that the level of 
proposed off-street parking is not sufficient, 1 private parking space to serve a 

Page 39



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 19 January 2017

proposed dwelling of this scale in this urban location is considered acceptable in 
accordance with adopted parking requirements set out in IGN3.

6.5 The proposed plans show an indicative location and footprint for the proposed 3 
bedroom detached dwelling, which would comprise approximately 86sqm. of 
internal accommodation set out over two storeys. Whilst the footprint of the 
proposed detached dwelling indicates it to be wider than No’s 9/11 Uridge 
Crescent to the south, the dwelling is orientated differently to these dwellings and 
is shown to be fairly similar in size to other properties in the locality. There is also 
considered to be a good degree of separation, and the relationship with 
neighbouring properties would, in my view, be acceptable. I am of the view that a 
new two storey dwelling on this plot of land would not be out of character to the 
wider Welland Road and Uridge Crescent residential street scenes. 

6.6 The proposal has been submitted as an outline application so therefore details 
have not been provided at this stage in respect of design (including window 
locations). Nevertheless, I am satisfied that the new dwelling could be designed to 
prevent any direct overlooking of adjoining residential property. This would, of 
course, be a matter which could be considered at the ‘reserved matters’ stage. 

6.7 In terms of loss of daylight/sunlight, whilst exact details of the height of the 
proposed dwelling is unknown, the proposed building is submitted as a two storey 
detached dwelling. The indicative drawings show the proposed dwelling to be 
located some 3.5m from the flank wall of No.11 Uridge Crescent and to be located 
to the north of this property. This distance, together with the orientation of the 
proposed new dwelling would, in my view, represent an acceptable relationship 
and would not give rise to any significant overshadowing or overbearing impact on 
that existing dwelling to the south of the site.  Furthermore, the proposed new 
dwelling is shown to be located a distance of approximately 12m at the narrowest 
point away from No.1 Welland Road. 

6.8 In light of the above considerations I find these outline proposals to be acceptable 
and recommend that outline planning permission be granted subject to the 
submission of reserved matters (Access, Appearance, Landscaping, Layout and 
Scale), and in accordance with those other planning conditions, as set out below:

7. Recommendation:

7.1 Grant Outline Planning Permission in accordance with the following submitted 
details:

Conditions / Reasons

1 Approval of details of the layout and appearance of the development, access to 
and within the site, the landscaping of the site, and the scale of the development 
(hereinafter called the "reserved matters") shall be obtained from the Local 
Planning Authority.  

Page 40



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 19 January 2017

Reason:  No such approval has been given.

 2 Application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the Local 
Planning Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this 
permission.

Reason:  In pursuance of Section 92(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.

 3 The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission, or before the expiration of two years 
from the date of approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved, 
whichever is the later.

Reason:  In pursuance of Section 92(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.

 4 The details submitted in pursuance to Condition 1 shall be accompanied by 
details and samples of materials to be used externally and the development shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason:  To ensure that the development does not harm the character and 
appearance of the existing building or the visual amenity of the locality.

 5 The details submitted in pursuance to Condition 1 shall be accompanied by a 
contoured site plan and full details of the slab levels at which the buildings are to 
be constructed and the development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. 

Reason:  To enable the Local Planning Authority to assess adequately the impact 
of the development on visual and/or residential amenities.

 6 The details submitted in pursuance to Condition 1 shall be accompanied by a 
scheme for external lighting to serve the development and the development shall 
be carried out in strict accordance with the approved details. 

Reason:  To ensure that the development does not harm the character and 
appearance of the existing building or visual amenity of the locality.

 7 Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 3 of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order amending, revoking 
and re-enacting that Order), no windows or similar openings shall be constructed 
in any elevation of any building other than those that are explicitly approved 
under any Reserved Matters application, submitted pursuant to this Outline 
application, without the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason:  To enable the Local Planning Authority to regulate and control any such 
further development in the interests of amenity and privacy of adjoining property.

Page 41



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 19 January 2017

8 No development shall commence until details of a scheme for the storage and 
screening of refuse has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The approved scheme shall be implemented before the development 
is occupied and shall be retained at all times thereafter.

Reason:  To facilitate the collection of refuse and preserve visual amenity.

9 No development shall be commenced until the following have been submitted to 
and approved by the Local Planning Authority:

(a)  a contaminated land desktop study identifying all previous site uses, potential 
contaminants associated with those uses including a survey of the condition of 
any existing building(s), a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, 
pathways and receptors and any potentially unacceptable risks arising from 
contamination at the site;

(b)  based on the findings of the desktop study, proposals for a site investigation 
scheme that will provide information for an assessment of the risk to all receptors 
that may be affected including those off site.  The site investigation scheme 
should also include details of any site clearance, ground investigations or site 
survey work that may be required to allow for intrusive investigations to be 
undertaken.

If, in seeking to comply with the terms of this condition, reliance is made on 
studies or assessments prepared as part of the substantive application for 
planning permission, these documents should be clearly identified and cross-
referenced in the submission of the details pursuant to this condition.

Reason:  In the interests of amenity, public safety and human health and in 
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework 2012 (paragraph 121).

10 No development shall take place other than as required as part of any relevant 
approved site investigation works until the following have been submitted to and 
approved by the local planning Authority:

(a) results of the site investigations (including any necessary intrusive 
investigations) and a risk assessment of the degree and nature of any 
contamination on site and the impact on human health, controlled waters and the 
wider environment.  These results shall include a detailed remediation method 
statement informed by the site investigation results and associated risk 
assessment, which details how the site will be made suitable for its approved end 
use through removal or mitigation measures.  The method statement must 
include details of all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives, 
remediation criteria, timetable of works and site management procedures.  The 
scheme must ensure that the site cannot be determined as Contaminated Land 
as defined under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 (or as 
otherwise amended).

The submitted scheme shall include details of arrangements for responding to 
any discovery of unforeseen contamination during the undertaking hereby 

Page 42



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 19 January 2017

permitted.  Such arrangements shall include a requirement to notify the Local 
Planning Authority in writing of the presence of any such unforeseen 
contamination along with a timetable of works to be undertaken to make the site 
suitable for its approved end use.

(b)  prior to the commencement of the development the relevant approved 
remediation scheme shall be carried out as approved.  The Local Planning 
Authority should be given a minimum of two weeks written notification of the 
commencement of the remediation scheme works.

Reason:  In the interests of amenity, public safety and human health and in 
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework 2012 (paragraph 121).

11 Following completion of the approved remediation method statement, and prior to 
the first occupation of the development, a relevant verification report that 
scientifically and technically demonstrates the effectiveness and completion of 
the remediation scheme at above and below ground level shall be submitted for 
the information of the Local Planning Authority.

The report shall be undertaken in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment 
Agency's  Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 
11.  Where it is identified that further remediation works are necessary, details 
and a timetable of these works shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority 
for written approval and shall be fully implemented as approved.

Thereafter, no works shall take place such as to prejudice the effectiveness of 
the approved scheme of remediation.

Reason:  In the interests of amenity, public safety and human health and in 
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework 2012 (paragraph 121).

Informatives:

 1 The proposed development is within a road which has a formal street numbering 
scheme and it will be necessary for the Council to allocate postal address(es) to 
the new property/ies.  To discuss the arrangements, you are invited to write to 
Street Naming & Numbering, Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council, Gibson 
Building, Gibson Drive, Kings Hill, West Malling, Kent, ME19 4LZ or to e-mail to 
addresses@tmbc.gov.uk.  To avoid difficulties for first occupiers, you are advised 
to do this as soon as possible and, in any event, not less than one month before 
the new properties are ready for occupation.

 2 The Local Planning Authority supports the Kent Fire Brigade's wish to reduce the 
severity of property fires and the number of resulting injuries by the use of 
sprinkler systems in all new buildings and extensions.

 3 This permission does not purport to convey any legal right to undertake works or 
development on land outside the ownership of the applicant without the consent 
of the relevant landowners.

Page 43



Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 19 January 2017

 4 Surface water from private areas should not be allowed to discharge onto the 
public highway.

 5 The applicant is advised that the Local Authority operates a back edge of public 
highway refuse collection service. A temporary bin store will therefore be required 
at the boundary of the site close to the public highway for use on collection day.

6 With regard to the construction phase of the development, the applicant is asked 
to take all reasonable steps to mitigate any impact upon surrounding residents. 
With this in mind, they are strongly encouraged to apply for a Section 61 Control 
of Pollution Act 1974 'prior consent' notice to regulate working hours/methods. It 
is recommended that you contact the Environmental Health Pollution Control 
Team on pollution.control@tmbc.gov.uk in advance of the commencement of 
works to discuss this further. The applicant is also advised to not undertake 
construction works outside the hours of 07.30 -18:30 Mondays to Fridays, 08:00-
13:00 on Saturdays and to not undertake works on Sundays, Bank or public 
holidays. Furthermore, arrangements for the management of demolition and 
construction traffic to and from the site should be carefully considered in the 
interests of residential amenities and highway safety. With regard to works within 
the limits of the highway and construction practices to prevent issues such as the 
deposit of mud on the highway, the applicant is encouraged to consult The 
Community Delivery Manager, Kent County Council, Kent Highway Services, 
Double Day House, St Michaels Close, Aylesford  Tel: 03000 418181 at an early 
time.

7 Planning permission does not convey any approval for construction of the 
required vehicular crossing, or any other works within the highway for which a 
statutory licence must be obtained.  Applicants should contact Kent County 
Council - Highways and Transportation (web: 
www.kent.gov.uk/roads_and_transport.aspx or telephone: 03000 418181) in 
order to obtain the necessary application pack.

8 It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure, before the development hereby 
approved is commenced, that all necessary highway approvals and consents 
where required are obtained and that the limits of highway boundary are clearly 
established in order to avoid any enforcement action being taken by the Highway 
Authority.  The applicant must also ensure that the details shown on the 
approved plans agree in every aspect with those approved under such legislation 
and common law.  It is therefore important for the applicant to contact KCC 
Highways and Transportation to progress this aspect of the works prior to 
commencement on site.

Contact: Vicky Bedford

Page 44

mailto:pollution.control@tmbc.gov.uk


Area 1 Planning Committee 

Part 1 Public 19 January 2017

TM/16/02987/OA

Land Adjoining 11 Uridge Crescent Tonbridge Kent  

Outline Application: Detached 3 bedroom dwelling house (all matters reserved)

For reference purposes only.  No further copies may be made.  Crown copyright.  All rights reserved.  Tonbridge and Malling 
Borough Council Licence No. 100023300 2015.

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



The Chairman to move that the press and public be excluded from the remainder 
of the meeting during consideration of any items the publication of which would 
disclose exempt information.

ANY REPORTS APPEARING AFTER THIS PAGE CONTAIN EXEMPT 
INFORMATION

Page 47

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Development Control
	5 TM/15/03345/FL - Raphael Medical Centre, Coldharbour Lane, Hildenborough
	Map

	6 TM/16/02987/0A - Land adjoining 11 Uridge Crescent, Tonbridge
	Map

	8 Exclusion of Press and Public

